

UNIVERSITY OF SOFIA "ST. KLIMENT OHRIDSKI"

FACULTY OF PHILOSOPHY DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION

Oikonomidou E. Maria

"Organizational Performance and Quality of Public Administration: Evaluation and improvement through Human Resource Management Practices"

ΑΒΤΟΡΕΦΕΡΑΤ

Submitted for obtaining the Doctorate degree (PhD) Code 3.3 "Political Sciences", Scientific field 3.7"Public Administration"

Academic Adviser: Associate Professor Tatyana Tomova, PhD Referees: Assoc. Prof. Elena Kalfova, PhD and Assistant Professor Denitsa Hinkova, PhD

Sofia, 2020

The dissertation was discussed and proposed for defense, under the Law on the Development of Academic Staff in the Republic of Bulgaria, by the Department of Public Administration at Sofia University "St. KLIMENT OHRIDSKI", Sofia.

The author is a doctoral student, in a free form of education, at the Department of Public Administration at Sofia University "St. KLIMENT OHRIDSKI".

The dissertation consists of 304 standard pages (together with the list of abbreviations, bibliography and appendices). Structurally, it consists of a. the introduction, b. the exposition in seven chapters and c. the general conclusions (applications of the dissertation and proposals are included). The literature used is a total of 283 sources. In support of the analysis, 32 tables, 24 figures and 7 graphs are given.

The internal defense of the dissertation has taken place on the 22nd of June 2020 at 14:00 via WebEx. The committee members of the Department of Public Administration of Sofia University "St. KLIMENT OHRIDSKI" and the author participated in the internal defense of the dissertation.

The materials on the defense are available to those interested in the Department of Doctoral Studies and Academic Development at Sofia University "St. KLIMENT OHRIDSKI", Sofia.

ABSTRACT

Education presents many peculiarities and an intense complexity due to the nature of the provided services. The effectiveness and efficiency of any Educational System depend primarily on effective HRM, which involves proper strategic planning and execution, in order to meet the demands of students and of the whole society for quality education services. To meet these requirements long-term strategic planning based on relevant short-term management goals, that are simultaneously adapted to the rapidly changing environment and the demands of modern and good governance, is essential. Evaluation in the field of education, using appropriate criteria and indicators, could facilitate the identification of any deficiencies and/or problems, as well as their treatment. The continuous improvement of the provided educational services requires the rational allocation and exploitation of resources, primarily Human Resources, so that the educational system is capable of responding to its social mission.

Moreover, the quality and efficiency of Public Administration in the field of Education affect the smooth operation of public schools. The aim of this research is to record the perceptions of administrative employees, who are the human resources of Educational Directorates and the main contributors of administrative services to schools. An employees' perception survey is used in order to explore their needs and expectations, enhance their satisfaction level and improve the quality of the provided services. The theoretical framework attempts to describe the prevalent view that the implementation of HR practices as bundles by the Public Administration's management contributes to the administrative staff's satisfaction, motivation and the adoption of an active role for the continuous improvement of organizational performance. Additionally, the continuous assessment of HRM through the employees' perceptions enhances their performance, which leads to the improvement of the services provided to schools and society. Moreover, the provision of high-quality and effective administrative support to schools can contribute to their smooth operation, and to the satisfaction of the schools' principals and teachers.

The administrative staff of the Primary and Secondary Directorates of Education in the Region of Central Macedonia (17 public administrative agencies of education located in 7 Greek cities) comprises the research field. The primary data were obtained using a part of the CAF tool questionnaire that allows for the use of econometric techniques. The current research examines the relationship between HR practices, as independent variables, and employee satisfaction. The data analysis explores HR Practices as bundles and the degree of their impact on employee satisfaction, as well as the employees' perceptions regarding the implementation of a TQM model/Measurement tool. The individual characteristics of employees are examined in relation to their satisfaction.

The formulation of the research hypotheses is done in four levels and for their investigation four distinct studies were carried out. The contributions of the research are in accordance with the results of these separate studies and are listed below:

1. The first study approved that HR innovative practices implementation, in the form of three bundles, significantly affects employee results either satisfaction is treated as one dimension or

as 18 specific satisfaction aspects. Furthermore, each HR bundle of practices has a different level of effect on satisfaction compared to the other two bundles. Additionally, each HR practice individually significantly affects the mean value of satisfaction as one dimension.

2. The second study revealed that the effect of the degree of implementation of HR practices, in the form of three bundles introduced by the CAF, is statistically significant with regard to employee satisfaction and therefore, the higher the rating for the HR practices, the higher the employees' satisfaction and their performance. Also, the descriptive analysis of the degree of HR practices implementation revealed the problematic areas of HRM and showed which specific HR practices should be strengthened, within each HR bundle, at the Directorates of Education.

3. The third study revealed that the effect of the degree of employees' perception that a TQM model / Measurement tool future implementation can improve organizational performance is statistically significant and gives valuable information with regard to each satisfaction aspect.

4. The fourth study approved that employee satisfaction is significantly affected by the employees' individual characteristics (age, professional experience, educational level, past mobility, intention to leave). HR innovative practices combined with the awareness of individual characteristics could improve behavioral outcomes, towards more efficient and effective HRM and talent management, with a focus on the human assets as a competitive advantage of public administration.

The main originality of the dissertation lies in the parallel study of a) the relationship between HR innovative practices and the satisfaction of internal customers, b) the perceptions of administrative officers with regard to a TQM model future implementation, and c) the effect of employees' individual characteristics on their satisfaction, in the context of the four distinct studies and by using different methodological approaches. Of great importance is the application of the research's model as a practical framework for the operation of the under research concepts in the particular environment of the Greek public administration, as international adaptation and implementation. However, the limitation of empirical research in the specific field of public administration of education and in a specific geographical area necessitates its implementation in other fields of public administration as well as in other geographical areas of the country.

Regardless of any potential limitations, it contributes to the enrichment of the international literature with the development and control of the structural model that supports the growing positive impact of "supportive" HR innovative practices on employee satisfaction. This structural model is also the starting point for activating top management, of Greek Public Administration in Education, to collect, analyze, and use data obtained through employee surveys. Current demands render the function of education more complex since it is being asked to move beyond the simple experiential approach to administrative action that was based on the experience of older members of staff and to combine the latter with knowledge and skills pertaining to New Public Management and Good Governance.

CONTENTS
I. GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE DISSERTATION
1. RELEVANCE OF THE RES EARCH
2. OBJECT AND SUBJECT OF THE DISSERTATION
3. RESEARCH THESIS
4. RESEARCH PURPOSE & RESEARCH QUESTIONS
5. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY
6. DATA COLLECTION AND LIMITATIONS OF THE RESEARCH
IL STRUCTURE AND CONTENT OF THE DISSERTATION
III. PRESENTATION OF THE PARTS AND CHAPTERS OF THE DISSERTATION10
INTRODUCTION
The 1st theoretical part of the dissertation includes the 4 chapters below:10
CHAPTER 1. STRATEGY & HUMAN RESOURCES10
CHAPTER 2. TOTAL QUALITY & HRM
CHAPTER 3. STRATEGIC HRM IN PUBLIC SECTOR
CHAPTER 4. GREEK PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION REFORMS AND EFFICIENCY OF EDUCATION
The 2nd part of the research methodology includes :
CHAPTER 5. METHODOLOGICAL FRAMEWORK OF THE RESEARCH
The 3rd part of the statistical analysis and the conclusions include the 2 chapters below:
CHAPTER 6. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS
CHAPTER 7. RESULTS IN FOUR LEVELS & CONCLUSIONS
GENERAL CONCLUSIONS & APPLICATIONS
IV. SELF-ASSESSMENT AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE DISSERTATION
V. CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS & SCIENTIFIC PUBLICATIONS RELATED TO THE DISSERTATION
VI. REFERENCES

I. GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE DISSERTATION 1. RELEVANCE OF THE RESEARCH

At a time of social and economic crisis in Greece, the efficiency of public policy and the quality of public services constitute vitally important factors that determine the relevant response to the changing needs and expectations of citizens and businesses. Additionally, the globalisation of economy and the technological boom have redirected the focus of the state mechanism, through the development of policies aiming at a reorganization of current management systems along with a decrease in the level of bureaucracy. The imperative demand for public services that focus on the needs of all stakeholders necessitates the adoption and implementation of the best administrative practices used in modern governance and of recognised measurement tools based on a strategy with clear goals that monitors and objectively evaluates management. A practical outcome of these measures has been the observed change to the mission, role and purpose of public services. The older concept of 'New Public Management' and the newer concept of 'Good Governance' have emerged through the interest and research of many scholars to propose solutions for achieving a New Public Administration that goes hand in hand with the values and principles of quality and excellence, in order to meet the needs of the citizens and society and achieve a continuous course of sustainable development. There is wide-spread interest in measuring not only the quality of services but also the quality of public governance and the interpretation of quality shifted from 'good process' to 'good outcome according to citizens'. The measurement of good governance can be encouraged, e.g. through rewards, monitoring, assessment, feedback and empowering stakeholders, including public employees¹. Thus, measures of good governance are being used in different contexts and HRM is a critical quality measurement area. Both of the above-mentioned terms include the TQM principles of excellence and even continuous improvement of quality to the mutual benefit of all stakeholders and the organization's success.

It is worth noting that TQM has a significant impact on HRM and vice versa. TQM implication, from strategic HRM perspective, is that it places great emphasis on employees' empowerment and their skills development for improving performance. TQM is attracting growing attention in Greece because of the challenges of the public sector as an option for improving the quality of HRM as well as the service delivery, at a reasonable cost. Thus, HRM under a TQM framework can be a critical competitive advantage for Greek public organizations, since both TQM and HRM can contribute to good public governance.

Although TQM models primarily focus on the evaluation of performance management and the identification of its organizational causes for the continuous improvement of services, in the field of public administration the ultimate goal is to contribute to good governance through the exploiting of all resources. Furthermore, effective HRM enables people to

¹ Bovaird, T., & Löffler, E. (2003). Evaluating the Quality of Public Governance: Indicators, Models and Methodologies. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 69(3), 313–328).

contribute effectively and productively to the organization's overall mission, vision and the accomplishment of the organization's objectives. In addition, in the context of total quality management, it is important to realize that only satisfied employees bring the organization towards satisfied customers. Thus, on the one hand, public administration has to meet the needs and expectations of public servants and keep them satisfied. On the other hand, the self-assessment of HRM by employees themselves under a framework could contribute to the further implementation of HR innovative practices that increase the commitment and individual performance of public servants and thus, the organizational performance.

The current thesis focuses on the Greek Public Administration of Education. According to the OECD, the importance of education in paving a course of sustainable growth for Greece requires adherence on the one hand to the principles of quality and excellence and on the other hand to the policies of the European Union (EU) with the common goal to reform the Greek educational system according to European educational standards and global trends in the labour market². Education presents many peculiarities and an intense complexity due to the nature of the provided services. The effectiveness and efficiency of any Educational System depend primarily on effective HRM, which involves proper strategic planning and execution, in order to meet the demands of students and of the whole society for quality education services. To meet these requirements, long-term strategic planning based on relevant short-term management goals that are simultaneously adapted to the rapidly changing environment and the demands of modern reality is essential. Evaluation in the field of education, using appropriate criteria and indicators, could facilitate the identification of any deficiencies and/or problems, as well as their treatment. The structure of the educational system consists of interrelated entities. According to the Greek National Educational System, the Directorates of Primary and Secondary Education are responsible for management and governance of schools, on a local level³. Direct communication and the support and supervision of schools by the Directorates of Education impact on the satisfaction of all stakeholders (e.g. school principals) and, on the other hand, affect the quality improvement of the provided services to schools and society and on the smooth operation of schools. Effective performance of administrative bodies and satisfied administrative employees are critical for the educational processes, through their relationship with all the members of school community. Satisfying the needs of all members of the school community and implementing actions according to the strategic planning of each educational body are measures directly linked to quality improvement and efficiency. Moreover, satisfaction surveys and management evaluation are best practices for a more specific appraisal and targeted improvement of organizational performance. Thus, the direct measurement of satisfaction and the depiction of needs, expectations and employees' perceptions from all

² OECD (2011). Education Policy Advice for Greece, Strong Performers and Successful Reformers in Education. OECD Publishing, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264119581-en

³ Eurydice, (2018). Organisation and Governance. available at https://eacea.ec.europa.eu/national-policies/eurydice/content/organisation-and-governance-33_en. [Accessed the 20th of September 2019].

hierarchical levels and sectors require direct research and feedback in order to provide information regarding various aspects of the organization in question⁴.

The issues analyzed in the doctoral thesis are simultaneously relevant in several areas. They concern the modern practices of public administration, the problems related to HRM in administration, and of particular importance is the question raised of how to improve education through qualitative administrative services. This is one of the hot topics since education is a key element in ensuring sustainable growth of every nation and its quality improvement provides to the development of the whole society rather than to the development exclusively of the public sector. The four-level study aligned with the conceptual analysis highlighted the need for the evaluation and management HRM system to be linked to the overall evaluation of the performance results of the public organization is concerned. It is therefore considered essential to formulate a strategy that evaluates HRM under a quality framework that develops mechanisms examining and involving the views of employees in an organized manner, on the management practices implemented and the provided services, as well as promotes a culture of trust and open communication within the principles of good governance. Hence, the structural model of the dissertation based on a TQM framework and measurement indicators related to strategic HRM is promoted to be applied in order to enhance organizational performance and 'good governance' of Greek Public Administration.

2. OBJECT AND SUBJECT OF THE DISSERTATION

The object of the current thesis is the quality of public administration and its influence on organizational performance, and the subject is twofold: a) Quality through strategic HRM⁵, as a prerequisite for increasing organizational performance as well as b) HR innovative practices measurement under a Total Quality Management framework⁶, as a prerequisite for employees satisfaction and HRM continuous improvement.

This thesis sheds light, through theoretical analysis and empirical research, in three of the most influential aspects of organizational performance, which are: quality enhancement of public administration under a TQM framework, strategic HRM and its relationship with employee satisfaction within the principals of good public governance in the field of education. Specifically, this study deals with the implementation of HR innovative practices within the principles of good governance, and with the administrative officers' individual characteristics' effect on satisfaction aspects. Additionally, it examines the application of a TQM framework within the management system of educational administrative bodies in

⁴ EIPA & EUPAN (2013). *CAF - Improving Public Organisations through Self-Assessment*, EUPAN & European CAF Resource Centre at EIPA, September 2012.

⁵ Dessler G. (2015). *Human Resource Management, 14th Edition*. ©2015 Pearson

⁶ Ministry of Interior, Department of Administrative Reform and E-Government, (2015). *CAF - Improving Public Organisations through Self-Assessment*. National Printing Office, Athens: 2015[in Greek]

Greece that would contribute to the performance improvement, the overall quality of services and the smooth operation between administrative bodies and schools. Certainly, this thesis provides potentially valuable insights into the quality of Administration for the first two levels of education (Primary and Secondary Education) and leaves out of its research interest the administration bodies of the remaining higher levels (after the secondary education) of the Greek educational system.

3. RESEARCH THESIS

The author develops and proves the thesis that the implementation of HR innovative practices, under a quality framework, is an organizational advantage for the public administration, which lead to higher motivation and satisfaction of the employees and hence to higher overall quality in the work of the administration and to the provision of better services in the education sector. Furthermore, the author proves the need for a unified approach of HRM practices in the form of bundles, and for linking these practices to TQM to achieve High-Performance Work System and quality in the Administration of Education. This research has the intention to demonstrate that internal reasons, such as increasing employees' involvement, as well as strengthening their sensitivity towards issues of quality, are important factors Greek public administration in the field of education to promote when implementing reforms within the principles of good governance.

The current thesis supports the need for the systematic elaboration of surveys depicting the perceptions of employees, with the aim to identify the main HRM areas for measurement and investigate any gaps in management actions for the strategic goals' achievement. This thesis highlights the combination of quality and measurement within strategy and its influence on organizational performance and Good Governance of Greek Public Administration. In addition, this research supports the role of strategic HRM to public organization's success, as one of the organizational performance's key factors, by measuring HR innovative practices within a TQM framework.

4. RESEARCH PURPOSE & RESEARCH QUESTIONS

The thesis' main objective is to provide an innovative structural model for top managers to improve HRM, to improve working environment and performance, towards more efficient and effective management and talent assessment in recruitment, with a focus on the human assets or social capital for public organizations. This main objective of the thesis is going to be approved by the investigation of the contribution of HRM to the public organization's success. Also, this thesis is going to shed light on the contribution of a quality framework to the implementation of strategic HRM as a key factor for organizational performance, by measuring current management practices as well as employees' characteristics and perceptions. Current demands render the function of Public Administration to move beyond the simple experiential approach and to combine the professional experience with knowledge and skills pertaining to New Public Management and Good Governance.

The empirical research purpose is to promote the use of a TQM framework and measurement indicators related to HRM, in order to enhance organizational performance and 'good governance' of Greek Public Administration in the field of Education. It aims to:

- \checkmark prove the major impact of strategic HRM on performance
- ✓ investigate whether the degree of HR practices' implementation affects and even predicts the degree of administrative officers' satisfaction
- ✓ identify any gaps in achievement of management goals in order to continuously improve both HRM and the provided services according to PDCA cycle
- ✓ explore employees' intention for the future implementation of TQM models and its impact on satisfaction aspects
- \checkmark investigate the effect of individual characteristics on satisfaction

The empirical research attempts to explore the prevalent view of the theory that the implementation of HR practices as bundles, under a TQM framework, enhances employee's satisfaction level and contributes to their motivation and the adoption of an active role for the organization's continuous improvement. The enhancement of their satisfaction, commitment, and performance leads to the improvement of the services provided to schools and society. The provision of high-quality and effective administrative support to schools can contribute to their smooth operation and good governance of public education.

The research questions concern:

A. The relationship between HR innovative practices as bundles and employees' satisfaction.

B. The effect of the rating score of HR Practices implementation on the degree of satisfaction.

C. The relationship between the employees' intention of a TQM model future implementation and specific satisfaction aspects.

D. The effect of the employees' individual characteristics on satisfaction.

E. The description of the current situation regarding the application of HR practices and their results.

5. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The methodology used in the doctoral thesis research consists basically of two components: analysis and synthesis of existing scientific research and empirical research.

The subject in question was examined using **empirical research and the quantitative method.** The **reliability was found to be very high**, with index of Cronbach a. The formulation of the research hypotheses was done in four levels and for their investigation four studies

were carried out. The methodological approaches both of regression and descriptive analysis were used.

- The first focuses on the study of the administrative staff who were examined in terms of their satisfaction a) as one dimension, but also b) as separate satisfaction aspects. The regression analysis was estimated with the ordinary least squares method to measure the impact of HR bundles on satisfaction. Additionally, the ordered logistic regression analysis was applied to measure the effect of each HR practice on each satisfaction aspect.
- The second study examines the degree of satisfaction of administrative officers in terms of the level of application of HR bundles, and the method of categorical variables (dummies)⁷ was applied. The problematic areas of HRM are investigated through the descriptive analysis by measuring the mean score of HR practices implementation and the level of satisfaction.
- The third focuses on the study of a TQM model future implementation according employees' perceptions in order to achieve organizational performance. The ordered logistic regression analysis was used to measure each satisfaction aspect.
- The fourth study examines the significance of employees' individual characteristics and the method of categorical variables (dummies) was applied.

6. DATA COLLECTION AND LIMITATIONS OF THE RESEARCH

The administrative staff of the Primary and Secondary Directorates of Education in the Region of Central Macedonia (17 public administrative agencies of education located in 7 Greek cities) comprises the research field. This study aims to record the perceptions of administrative officers of all hierarchical levels and sectors. The primary data were obtained using a part of the Common Assessment Framework questionnaire based on the six point-Likert scale that allows for the use of econometric techniques. Specifically, the questionnaire used deals with innovative HR practices and their results.

Firstly, a pre-audit was carried out by distributing the questionnaires to a sample of ten employees who had previously been informed of the subject and purpose of the survey and could therefore have an informed opinion about the questionnaire's suitability. Some minor problems of understanding were noted which, after being corrected, resulted in the final configuration of the questionnaires. The distribution of the final questionnaire was conducted in November 2019 both in electronic (using google forms) and in printed form. A letter was sent to each Directorate's e-mail address explaining the purpose and scope of the investigation. It also assured them that the research is in line with the international rules of research ethics and all administrative officers could voluntary choose to fill in the equestionnaire. At the end of the two-week period, were submitted 182 responses, of which 141 (30.37 % of the total number of employees) were correctly filled and were used for the further research process.

⁷ Damodar N. Gujarati (2004). Basic Econometrics, 4th edition. The McGraw-Hill Companies, chapter 9

As is the case with any research, the present study also presents certain limitations and weaknesses. One such weakness is the fact that it only examined the administrative officers' perceptions and their satisfaction. Additionally, it is proposed to enrich the structural model of employees' satisfaction survey with other variables in terms of employees' performance measurement. Furthermore, in line with the principle of evidence-based management (EBM), an organization should collect objective information from all stakeholders. In most cases, this is done through surveys that focus on internal and external customers, while target groups or special user groups are also used for this purpose. This limitation of the empirical research necessitates its expansion through further research of the perceptions of external customers. Oikonomidou M. & Konstantinidis I. (2020) examined the perceptions of school principals in relation to organizational aspects of the Directorates of Primary and Secondary Education of Eastern Thessaloniki and their satisfaction and reached statistically significant conclusions. The data elaboration of a further customer satisfaction survey is proposed across all administrative bodies of education of the Region of Central Macedonia. Finally, a limitation of the present study relates to the fact that its research field covered only the 16 Directorates of Education and the agency of Regional Education Directorate of Central Macedonia (17 agencies in total). However, the Region of Central Macedonia is the largest and second most populous region of Greece. Its population is 17.1% of the total population of Greece. The limitation of empirical research in the specific field of public administration of education and in a specific geographical area necessitates its further implementation in other fields of public administration as well as in other geographical areas of the country.

II. STRUCTURE AND CONTENT OF THE DISSERTATION

Structurally, the dissertation consists of an introduction (10 pages), the theoretical part presented in four chapters (119 pages), the methodological framework and the statistical analysis in two chapters (95 pages), and the conclusions and general conclusions (30 pages), a list of references (14 pages) and two appendices (23 pages).

The structure of the dissertation is listed as follows:

CONTENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

INTRODUCTION

part 1 – theory

part 2 – research methodology & research field

part 3 – statistical analysis and conclusions

GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

REFERENCES

APPENDIX 1 - DATA COLLECTION & QUESTIONNAIRE

APPENDIX 2 - TABLES 7-12 of regression analysis

III. PRESENTATION OF THE PARTS AND CHAPTERS OF THE DISSERTATION INTRODUCTION

The introduction presents the general statement of the research topic and outlines the scientific analysis' framework and the research questions. This section clearly defines the object and subject of the research, the goals, tasks, and methods of the research. The framework of analysis thus constructed is logical, coherent, the goal is ambitious and addresses current issues of the development of public administration and human resources management.

The 1st theoretical part of the dissertation includes the 4 chapters below:

CHAPTER 1. STRATEGY & HUMAN RESOURCES

The first chapter clarifies the basic concepts that the author uses in proving the doctoral thesis. At the theoretical level, the concepts of strategic management and strategic management of human resources are derived.

Strategy is the direction and scope of an organization over the long term, which achieves advantage in a changing environment through its configuration of resources and competences with the aim of fulfilling stakeholder expectations. Strategy is the way an organization combines its internal strengths and weaknesses with external opportunities and threats, in order to maintain or create a competitive advantage. The components and prerequisites of strategic management are the interconnected key factors that impact organizational performance. These success factors of any organization demonstrate the increasing role of intangible assets in creating value in today's economy and the challenge of executing strategy.

The author also links the performance management approach to the strategic management of human resources, which is theoretically significant. Strategic HRM is a critical intangible asset for improving organizational performance and achieving competitive advantage. According to the strategic HRM, management sets a plan and measurable goals which imply certain workforce requirements, in terms of the employee skills, competencies and behavior required to achieve the organization's strategic objectives⁸. This chapter highlights the strategic approach of HRM and its role to organizational performance.

⁸ Dessler G. (2015). *Human Resource Management, 14th Edition*. ©2015 Pearson

CHAPTER 2. TOTAL QUALITY & HRM

Chapter Two expands the theoretical basis by presenting the models of total quality management (TQM) and the importance of organizational culture and human resource management for the introduction of such systems in the public sector.

TQM is a collection of principles, processes, and best practices that over time have been proven effective for achieving high levels of quality, in order to meet the expectations of customers and other stakeholders. TQM is a human-centered management system that requires the understanding, acceptance and active participation of human resources in the implementation of its principles⁹. The most important factor for implementing models, measures and reforms is their adoption by the workforce and their introduction to an appropriate organizational culture¹⁰. According to the literature review, there is an innovative trend of HRM in the notion that complementary 'bundles' of HR practices enhance organizational performance, achieve sustained competitive advantage and lead to a "win-win" situation for both the company and its employees¹¹.

CHAPTER 3. STRATEGIC HRM IN PUBLIC SECTOR

The third chapter examines the development of basic theoretical concepts (new public management and good governance) and the development of HRM practices in this framework. Developed economies such as U.S., Canada, and U.K. have embraced measurement models and innovative practices and have recorded a considerable improvement in their performance¹². NPM has emerged in order to change the bureaucratic model of the past and includes actions that can be categorised as follows:

- \checkmark Accountability and evaluation of professional managers for their performance¹³;
- ✓ Strategic policy planning. Public organisations are viewed as institutions that develop rather than deliver policies. The state has an executive role, which aims to design and formulate quasi-market institutions, within whose framework the available resources are distributed and coordinated¹⁴,

⁹ Taylor, W.A. & Wright, Gillian. (2003). The impact of senior managers' commitment on the success of TQM programmes. *International Journal of Manpower*. 24. 535-550. 10.1108/01437720310491071

 ¹⁰ Hodgkinson, M. and Kelly, M. (2007). Quality management and enhancement processes in UK business schools: a review. *Quality Assurance in Education, Vol. 15, No. 1, 77-91.* ¹¹ Dimitrios M. Mihail, Myra Mac Links, Sofoklis Sarvanidis, (2013). High performance work systems in

¹¹ Dimitrios M. Mihail, Myra Mac Links, Sofoklis Sarvanidis, (2013). High performance work systems in corporate turnaround: a German case study. *Journal of Organizational Change Management, Vol. 26 Iss: 1 pp. 190 - 216*

¹² Ugheoke S., et al., (2015). Implementation of High Performance Work System in Public Organizations: Implication to Organizational Performance. *Asian Social Science; Vol. 11, No. 28.* ISSN 1911-2017 E-ISSN 1911-2025

¹³ Dunleavy, P. and Hood, C. (1994). From Old Public Administration to New Public Management. *Public Money and Management*, *14*, *9-16*.

¹⁴ Bryson J., Berry F., Yang K. (2010). The State of Public Strategic Management Research: A Selective Literature Review and Set of Future Directions. *American Review of Public Administration*. DO - 10.1177/0275074010370361

- ✓ TQM models' implementation in order to help public organizations to obtain sustainable excellence¹⁵.
- \checkmark E-governance. The more effective use of ICT has a significant role to play: less recruitment is needed, support functions can be improved and duplication of roles is cut¹⁶.
- \checkmark Measuring performance and monitoring the delivered outcomes¹⁷,
- \checkmark Establishment of performance-related contracts along with the definition of goals and mutual obligations in order to grant performance incentives to employees,
- \checkmark Upholding the principle of legitimacy as a limit to NPM actions. Public organizations are frequently seen as having multiple and even conflicting goals, which make organizational performance expectations, appear ambiguous and imposed on external political, economic, legal, and other constraints 18 .

Good Governance came to the forefront of the Public Administration to further deepen and complement the principles and actions of NPM. The concept centers on the responsibility of governments and governing public bodies to meet the needs of the citizens as opposed to select groups in society¹⁹.

Both terms' characteristics are consistent with the principles of quality, which are included in any TQM system. During any TQM system implementation, HRM's main task is to communicate and convince the employees to accept, internalize, and implement TQM in order to achieve mutual benefit, both for their individual goals and the organization's development²⁰. The critical elements related to HRM that contribute to internal processes and services' quality are: Management Tools' implementation, HR Policies & Procedures, Teamwork, Empowerment & Employees' Involvement, Goal-oriented Management & Goals awareness, Training & HR Development, Communication & Open dialogue mechanisms, Rewards & Recognition²¹. The importance of organizational culture and policy for the development of management practices in public administration is analyzed in this chapter. Special emphasis is placed on the adoption of CAF as a general framework for evaluating public administration in the EU. This justifies the use of such a scheme in the empirical study in the next sections of the doctoral thesis is thus justified.

¹⁵ EFQM Leading Excellence, (2013). EFQM Excellence Model 2013. https://www.efqm.org/index.php/efqmmodel/.[Accessed the 15th of September 2019].

¹⁶ Foundation: BISS (Baltic Institute of Social Sciences) "O.D.A." LTD, (2015). The study on the future role and development of the public administration. RIGA, 2015

¹⁷ Ritz A. (2009). Public service motivation in Switzerland. International Review of Administrative Sciences 75(1)3b¹⁸ Wright, B. E. & Davis, B. S. (2003). Job Satisfaction in the Public Sector: The Role of the Work

Environment. The American Review of Public Administration, 33, 70.

¹⁹ UNESCAP-United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific, (2009), What is New Governance? https://www.unescap.org/resources/what-good-governance. Accessed on 4 April 2020

²⁰ Swiss, James, (1992). Adapting Total Quality Management (TQM) to Government. Public Administration Review, Vol. 52, No. 4, pp. 356-362

²¹ Hallowell R., L.A. Schlesinger, J. Zornitsky (2002). "Internal Service Quality, Customer and Job Satisfaction: Linkages and Implications for Management". Human Resource Planning, p. 27 (EBSCO Publishing)

CHAPTER 4. GREEK PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION REFORMS AND EFFICIENCY OF EDUCATION

Chapter 4 examines the reforms carried out in Greece to achieve a better system of human resources management in public administration over the last decades. The strategic plan of the Greek Ministry of Administrative Reforms has set the optimal use of Human Resources as a major factor in administrative reform²².

This chapter also outlines the reasons that the introduction of HRM practices improves the satisfaction and performance of administrative officers and thus provides quality services to schools. Several researchers claim that human resources are an "asset" for any organization rather than a "liability" and that within a satisfactory work environment that contributes to the development of knowledge and skills, active participation and commitment by employees and the implementation of new ideas, HRM and quality all converge towards TQM. Given that the vast majority of organisational activities depend on the knowledge and capabilities of human resources, there is no rational reason why a school system cannot apply total quality 23 . Within the framework of TQM philosophy, educational organisations constitute an integral social system within which two-way relations are developed between members (regional directors, directors of education, school principals, school advisors, administrative officers, teachers, students, parents, the local community). Hence, satisfying the needs of all members of the school community and implementing actions according to the strategic planning of each educational body are measures directly linked to quality improvement and efficiency. The notion that the dissemination of the national educational policy, the educational reforms and innovation to schools is under the supervision of the Directorates of Primary and Secondary Education has become the subject of much discussion among policymakers. Specific administrative aspects of the Directorates of Education significantly affect the satisfaction of school principals, as main stakeholders of the educational system²⁴. According to the structure of the Greek National Educational system, direct communication and the support and supervision of school units by these administrative bodies impact the smooth operation of schools and enhance the quality of their educational services²⁵. Furthermore, an awareness of the problematic administrative aspects within primary and secondary education, according to administrative employees' perception, as internal customers, can be expected to serve as the basis for relevant remedial measures and policy initiatives.

²²Laws 4440/2016 & 4369/2016 and Gov. Gazette 1882 B_2018

²³ Saiti A., (2012). Leadership and quality management. *Quality Assurance in Education, Vol. 20Iss 2 pp. 110 - 138*

²⁴ Oikonomidou M. & Konstantinidis I. (2020). The effect of administrative actions on the satisfaction of Primary and Secondary public school principals. *Journal of Contemporary Education Theory & Research*. *Published online: 30 May 2020, JCETR, 4(1), pp. 1-2. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.3773894*

²⁵ Eurydice, (2018). Key features of the Education System. https://eacea.ec.europa.eu/national-policies/eurydice. [Accessed the 20th of September 2019].

The 2nd part of the research methodology includes:

CHAPTER 5. METHODOLOGICAL FRAMEWORK OF THE RESEARCH

The 2nd part of the dissertation analyzes the research field, the purpose, and goals of the research and the scientific reasons for the application of the empirical methodological approach. The seven Hypotheses are formulated according to the theoretical framework of the research questions and are related to the research goals. The adaptation of the recognized questionnaire and the formulation of specific questions according to the research requirements are presented. The choice of research tool, the method of data collection, and the data processing methodology - regression models - are explained and allow verification of the results.

The 3rd part of the statistical analysis and the conclusions include the 2 chapters below:

CHAPTER 6. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Quantitative analysis of primary data was performed through data collection by using a questionnaire that allows the measurement with econometric techniques. The methods selected appropriately in terms of the study's objectives and the type of data collected. The regression was estimated with four approaches in order to find the relationship between the variables. The variables were examined by using certain numerical indicators known as correlation coefficients. Also, the variables were analyzed descriptively per question and were classified at a low to medium level for answers 0-2 of the rating scale and at a medium to a high level for answers 3-5 of the rating scale, depicting the best practices and the problematic HRM areas.

CHAPTER 7. RESULTS IN FOUR LEVELS & CONCLUSIONS

The statistical results in the four-level study are significant and in line with all the Hypotheses. More specific:

A) The 1st study approved that HR innovative practices implementation as three bundles (means IV_A, IV_B, IV_C) introduced by CAF significantly affect employee results either satisfaction is treated as one dimension (mean of DV) or as 18 specific satisfaction aspects. Each HR bundle of practices has a different level of effect on satisfaction compared to the other two bundles. Additionally, each HR practice individually significantly affects the mean value of satisfaction as one dimension. Also, we can conclude which specific HR practices are more significant within each bundle by observing the coefficients and the index R-squared.

Dependent variable: mean of DV (questions on satisfaction)		
mean_IV_A	0.218***	
	(0.0625)	
mean_IV_B	0.229***	
	(0.0587)	
mean_IV_C	0.506***	
	(0.0514)	
Constant	0.426***	
	(0.0975)	
Observations	141	
R-squared	0.750	

Table : OLS regression.

Note: Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

B) The 2nd study revealed the higher the rating of the HR practices, the higher the employees' satisfaction and their performance. In addition, the descriptive analysis showed that the administrative officers gave a relatively low score to the implementation of HR practices by the organizations they work for. The lowest mean score in combination with the result of the highest statistical significance of the HR bundle related to employees' empowerment leads to the conclusion that Directorates of Education should pay more attention to this particular factor and implement specific improvement actions. It is worth mentioning that the satisfaction score is higher than the one given to HR practices, according to employees' perceptions. We can conclude that all employees are internally motivated by intrinsic motivators, due to the services they offer to society (teachers, schools, students, etc.)

C) The 3rd study revealed that the effect of the perceptions' degree concerning the administrative officers' intention of a TQM model future implementation with regard to specific satisfaction aspects is statistically significant. This analysis gives valuable information with regard to each satisfaction aspect.

D) The 4th study approved that satisfaction is significantly affected by age, professional experience, educational level, past mobility, and the intention to leave.

GENERAL CONCLUSIONS & APPLICATIONS

The General conclusions connect the content of the theoretical part and summarize the overall results of the doctoral thesis research. The factors that determine employee satisfaction as well as the opportunities for improving employee performance are formulated. The theoretical part supports that by implementing HR practices introduced by the CAF tool, Greek public administration follows the European and international trends, whose aim includes the modernization of HRM and the introduction of quality issues to organizational performance. The current thesis focuses on the Greek Public Administration of Education since the educational system is a focal point of any change while playing a role in current social, political, economic and cultural developments.

Following the statistical analysis, the present study supported that the CAF questionnaire is an appropriate tool for use by administrative bodies of education in order to examine employees' perceptions concerning HRM issues. It was approved the positive relationship between the quality of public administration in the field of education and organizational performance. An important finding is that HR practices concerning employees' empowerment have approximately double the effect on satisfaction as opposed to the other two understudy HR bundles concerning HRM planning aligned with strategy and HR development. Moreover, the descriptive analysis depicted the current situation by measuring the degree of HR innovative practices' implementation and showed the main problematic areas that need improvement through HRM actions.

In addition, the analysis of the effect of the degree of HR practices implementation on satisfaction aspects is of great importance for the management of Educational Directorates in their effort to motivate their personnel and improve their services and showed which specific practices should be strengthened, within each HR bundle. The results also revealed that employees have the intention of a TQM model/Measurement tool to be implemented, but they are worried about the provision of transparency and equal opportunities concerning specific administrative aspects. Finally, the results concerning the individual characteristics of employees could be used as valuable data for the talent management and the improvement of behavioral outcomes. Generally, it revealed that HR innovative practices implementation and their measurement under a TQM framework have a significant impact on organizational performance, increase satisfaction, achieve commitment and better employee performance by improving the work environment according to their assessment.

The application of the research's structural model, as a measurement tool based on TQM and indicators related to HRM, disseminates the principles of good public governance and is proposed to all administrative bodies of Primary and Secondary Education in all 13 Regions of Greece, in order to motivate their personnel and improve their services. This pilot study by nature can underpin the formulation of a coherent strategic plan of Greek Administrative bodies of Primary and Secondary Public Education that support schools. Thus, the achievement of this thesis is the practical framework that gives the Directorates of Education the potential to monitor quality and HRM and propose measures in a continuous course of sustainable development of education.

IV. SELF-ASSESSMENT AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE DISSERTATION

The author has undertaken significant work to identify, review, and analyze a significant body of information sources. Current and important questions were raised about public administration development, the development of a strategic approach to human resource management, and also about the results of the adoption of some popular EU practices in human resource management by Greece. The dissertation used a classical deductive analysis approach. Raising theoretically the questions of human resource management and organizational performance, the author analyzed the relationship between the two processes. The main originality of the dissertation lies in the parallel study of a) the relationship between HR innovative practices and the satisfaction of internal customers, b) the perceptions of administrative officers with regard to a TQM model future implementation, and c) the effect of employees' individual characteristics on their satisfaction, in the context of the four distinct studies and by using different methodological approaches. The results of the conducted empirical research clearly show the significant fieldwork carried out.

The contribution of the dissertation to the enrichment of the international literature, with the development of the structural model and the formulation of the practical framework of measurement that support the growing positive impact of "supportive" HR practices, on employee satisfaction and performance, is valuable concerning the execution of strategic HRM. It was concluded that within a quality management framework, the application of strategic HRM is essential for the provision of better organizational performance for the highest possible quality services. The author's main statement of the need for the evaluation and management HRM system to be linked to the overall evaluation of the performance results of the public organization is concerned, was successfully approved. This is the line along which the research can be developed in the future.

The data collected provide significantly great opportunities for further analyses in the future. It is proposed to expand and enrich the structural model of the employees' satisfaction survey with other variables in terms of employees' performance measurement. This kind of measurement is comprised of internal people-related performance indicators that enable the organisation to measure the results achieved regarding people's overall behavior, their performance, the development of skills, their motivation and their level of involvement in the organization. Such results typically include internal measurements of the behavior people display in practice (e.g. sick leave, staff turnover, number of staff complaints, number of proposals for innovation, etc.) Additionally, it is proposed to expand and enrich the structural model of the first and second studies with another relevant survey in terms of the results that reveal the satisfaction of external customers.

However, the limitation of empirical research in the specific field of public administration of education and in a specific geographical area necessitates its further implementation in other fields of public administration as well as in other geographical areas of the country.

The present study can form the starting point for activating Public Administration in the field of Education to collect, analyze and use data obtained through employee surveys. It is therefore considered essential to formulate a strategy that evaluates HRM under a quality framework that develops mechanisms examining and involving the views of employees, on the management practices implemented and the provided services, in an organized manner and promoting a culture of trust and open communication within the principles of good governance.

V. CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS & SCIENTIFIC PUBLICATIONS RELATED TO THE DISSERTATION

Conference Presentations:

- Katsikas I. & Oikonomidou M., (2017). Evaluating the Teaching Performance of the University Institutions: the case study of the University of Macedonia. Paper presented at the 2nd International Conference on "Evaluation of Public Education" -Alexandroupoli, Greece, October 6-7, 2017. Conference publications: Evaluation in Education, Scientific series: Intercultural Education and Training, ISBN: 978-618-83706-0-9
- Oikonomidou M. & Konstantinidis I. (2019). Three papers presented at the 3rd International Public Administration Conference, organized by Sofia University "St. Kliment Ohridski". 30 Years of Public Governance Political Reforms in Central and Eastern Europe: The Next Horizon. - Sofia, Bulgaria, April 11 - 12, 2019.
- Oikonomidou M. & Konstantinidis I. (2019). The effect of administrative actions on the satisfaction of Primary and Secondary public school principals. Paper presented at the 2nd International Congress on Management of Educational Units."Education-civilization-innovation at crossroads-The way ahead" (2nd ICOMEU 2019, 29 November-1 December 2019, Thessaloniki, Greece) (e-book). ISBN: 978-618-80440-8-1

Scientific Publications:

- Oikonomidou M. & Konstantinidis I. (2019). Evaluating HRM practices in public administration: the 1st CAF f implementation in public hospital of Serres, in the region of north Greece. *Journal of Public Policy and Good Governance, Volume 10/Number 3/September 2019*
- Oikonomidou M. & Konstantinidis I. (2019). The impact of HRM practices to employees' satisfaction and organizational performance in public administration: the case of the administration services of education in the region of north Greece. *Journal of Public Policy and Good Governance, Volume 10/Number 3/September 2019*
- Oikonomidou M. & Konstantinidis I. (2019). The impact of organizational learning and procedures on citizens' satisfaction in Greek public administration. *Journal of Public Policy and Good Governance*. *Volume 10/Number 4/November 2019*
- Oikonomidou M. & Konstantinidis I. (2020). The effect of administrative actions on the satisfaction of Primary and Secondary public school principals. Journal of Contemporary Education Theory & Research. Published online: 30 May 2020, JCETR, 4(1), pp. 1-2. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.3773894

VI. REFERENCES

- Allen N.J., Meyer J.P. (1990). The Measurement and Antecedents of Affective, Continuance and Normative commitment to the organization. *Journal of Occupational Psychology, 63 pp. 1-18*.
- Amaratunga, D., & Baldry, D. (2002). Moving from performance measurement to performance management. Facilities, 20(5/6), pp 217-223.
- Anastasopoulou, A. (2010). Common Assessment Framework (CAF). Total Quality Management Tool in Public Administration. Improving a public organization through CAF self-assessment. Available at: https://dspace.lib.uom.gr/bitstream/2159/14114/1/finalCAF.pdf
- Appelbaum, E., Bailey, T., Berg and Kalleberg, A. (2000). *Manufacturing advantage: Why high performance work systems pay off. Ithaca*, NY: ILR Press.
- Appelbaum, E., Bailey, T., Berg, P. and Kalleberg, A. (2000). *Manufacturing advantage: why highperformance work systems pay off.* Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Badescu, M. & Garcés-Ayerbe, C. (2009). The impact of information technologies on firm productivity: Empirical evidence from Spain. *Technovation*, 29,122–129
- Balfour, D. and Wechsler, B., 1996. Organizational commitment: Antecedents and outcomes in public organizations. Public Productivity and Management Review, Volume 29, pp. 256-277.
- Barney, J. (1995). Looking Inside for Competitive Advantage. *The Academy of Management Executive*, 9(4): 49–61.
- Barrett, K., & Greene, R. (1999). Grading the states: A management report card. Governing, 17-9
- Barrie G. Dale, (2003). Managing Quality, 4 edition. Publisher: Wiley-Blackwell
- Bart van Looy, Paul Gemmel, Roland Dierdonck, (2013). Service Management: An Integrated Approach. Published by Pearson Education Limited, United Kingdom
- Batt, R. and Colvin, A.J.S. (2011). "An employment systems approach to turnover: human resources practices, quits, dismissals, and performance". Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 54 No. 4, pp. 695-717.
- Becker B. & Huselid M. (2003). Measuring HR? Benchmarking is not the answer. *HR Magazine 8, no* 12, December 2003
- Becker Brian, Huselid Mark, and Ulrich Dave (2001). *The HR Scorecard*. Boston: Harvard Business School Press, p. 213
- Behn RD, (2003). Why measure performance? Different purposes require different measures. *Public* Management Review Vol. 63, No. 5
- Beywl W., (2003). The evolutive role of evaluation: Just another choice or a unique stance? Evaluation and Program Planning 35(2)
- Blodgett T., Newfarmer G., (1996). Performance measurement: (arguably) the hottest topic in government today. *Public Management*
- Boselie, P. (2010) High performance work practices in the health care sector: a Dutch case study. *International Journal of Manpower*, 31(1): 42-58.
- Bosse J., Burnett M., Rongione C., Scholtens H., (2017). An Innovative Public Sector in 2017 New Solutions to Complex Challenges. EPSA 2017 Publication. Available at: <u>https://epsa2019.eu/files/site/EPSA2017_Publication_web.pdf</u> [accessed Jan 18 2020]
- Bovaird, T., & Löffler, E. (2003). Evaluating the Quality of Public Governance: Indicators, Models and Methodologies. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 69(3), 313–328).

- Boxall, P., & Macky, K. (2007). High-performance work systems and organisational performance: Bridging theory and practice. *Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources*, 45(3), 261–270. https://doi.org/10.1177/1038411107082273.
- Boxall, P., & Purcell, J. (2008). *Strategy and Human Resource Management*. New York, USA: Palgrave MacMillan.
- Boxall. P. & Purcell. j. (2000). Strategic human resource management: Where have we come from and where should we be going? *International journal 0/Management Reviews*. 14(2).183-203.
- Boyne G., Meier K. (2009). Environmental Turbulence, Organizational Stability, and Public Service Performance. Administration & Society Vol.40- DO - 10.1177/0095399708326333
- Boyne, J. and Walker, R. (2002). Total Quality Management and Performance: An Evaluation of the Evidence and Lessons for Research on Public Organizations. Public Performance & Management Review, Vol. 26, No. 2, pp. 111-131
- Bradley E. Wright & Brian S. Davis (2001). Job satisfaction in the public sector: The Role of the Work Environment. *American review of public administration, vol. 33 no. 1, March 2003 70-90.*
- Brannick, M.T. and Levine, E.L. (2002). *Job Analysis Methods Research and Applications*. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks.
- Brannick. M. T.. & Levine. E. L (2002).job analysis. Methods. Research. and Applications for Human Resource Management in the New Millennium California: Sage Publications. Inc.
- Brooks AC. (2002). Can nonprofit management help answer public management's "big question"? *Public Administration Review.* 62(3), pp 259–66.
- Brudney, J., Hetert, T., & Wright, D. (1999). Reinventing government in the American states: Measuring and explaining administrative reform. *Public Administration Review*, 59, 19-30.
- Brunsson, Nils (2006). *Mechanisms of Hope: Maintaining the Dream of the Rational Organization*. Malmo: Liber.
- Bryson J., Berry F., Yang K. (2010). The State of Public Strategic Management Research: A Selective Literature Review and Set of Future Directions. American Review of Public Administration. DO - 10.1177/0275074010370361
- Buelens, M., & Van der Broeck, H. (2007). An analysis of differences in work motivation between public and private sector organizations. Public Administration Review, 67, 1, 65-74.
- Cappelli, P., & Crocker-Hefter, A. (1996). Distinctive human resources are firms' core competencies. *Organizational Dynamics*, 24(3): 7-22.
- Cappelli, P., & Tavis, A. (2016). Spotlight on building the workforce of the future. *Harvard Business Review October 2016*.
- Catano. V., Cronshaw. S., Wiesner. W., Hackett, R. & Methot, L (1997). Recruitment and selection in Canada. Toronto: ITP Press.
- CEB (2005). *Managers Disproportionately Impact Employee Performance and Retention*. Corporate Executive Board. All Rights Reserved.
- Chan, S.C.H. and Mak, W.- M. (2012). High performance human resource practices and organizational performance: the mediating role of occupational safety and health. *Journal of Chinese Human Resource Management, Vol. 3 No. 2, pp.136-150*
- Chandler, J. (2003). The Efficacy of Various Kinds of Error Feedback for Improvement in the Accuracy and Fluency of L2 Student Writing. *Journal of Second Language Writing*, *12*, 267-296.

- Chenhall, R.H., 2003. Management control systems design within its organizational context: findings from contingency-based research and directions for the future. *Accounting, Organizations and Society 28, 127–168.*
- Colbert. B. (2004). The complex resource-based view: Implications for theory and practice in strategic human resource management. *Academy Management Review*. 29(3). 341-358.
- Coleman, J. S. 1988. Social capital in the creation of human capital. Amer. J. Sociol. 94 S95-S120.
- Coleman, J. S. 1990. Foundations of Social Theory. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Condrey, S. E. (1995). Reforming resource management systems: Exploring the importance of organizational trust. *American Review of Public Administration*, 25, 341-354.
- Continuous Improvement: The essence of Kaizen (2009). Filed under: Management of Process Quality — Tags: continuous improvement, Deming Wheel, employees involvement, operator's ownership, PDCA cycle, problem solving process, SPC, Statistical Quality Control — Ferhan Syed @, available at: https://totalqualitymanagement.wordpress.com/2009/09/01/continuous-improvement-theessence-of-kaizen/. [Accessed the 30 th of January 2020]
- Cooke. R.. & Armstrong. M. (1990). The search for strategic HRM. *Personnel management*. 22(12). 30-33.
- Coursey, D. H. and S. K. Pandey (2007). Public service motivation measurement Testing an abridged version of Perry's proposed scale. *Administration & Society 39(5): 547-568*
- Coyle-Shapiro, J. and Kessler, I. (2000). Consequences of the Psychological Contract for the Employment Relationship: A Large Scale Survey. *Journal of Management Studies*, 37(7):903–30.
- Crawford, L.E.D. and Shutler, P. (1999), "Total quality management in education: problems issues for the classroom teacher", *The International Journal of Educational Management*, Vol. 13 No. 2, pp. 67-72.
- Creech, B. (1994), The 5 Pillars of TQM: How to Make Total Quality Management Work for You, New York: Plume.
- Cronbach, L. J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. Psychometrika, 16, 297-334.
- Cropanzano, R., Howes, J. C., Grandev, A. A., & Toth, P. (1997). The relationship of organizational politics and support to work behaviors, attitudes, and stress. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 18, 159–180.
- Damanpour, F., Gopalakrishnan, S., 2001. Dynamics of the adoption of product and process innovations in organizations. *Journal of Management Studies* 28, 45–65.
- Damodar N. Gujarati (2004). *Basic Econometrics, 4th edition*. The McGraw-Hill Companies, chapter 9
- Datta, Guthrie, & Wright, (2005). Human Resource Management and Labor Productivity: Does Industry Matter? AMJ, 48, 135-145, https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2005.15993158.
- David Bowen and Edward Lawler, (1992). On the relationship between objective increases in pay and employees' subjective reactions. *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 13(6):559 571
- David H. R. & Susanne J. P., (2007). Reflections on New Public Management-Style Reforms. Chinese Public Administration Review · Volume 4 · Numbers 1/2
- Deming, W. Edwards (2000). The New Economics for Industry, Government, Education (2nd ed.). MIT Press. ISBN 0-262-54116-5
- Deming, W.E. (1986), *Out of Crisis: Quality Productivity and Competitive Position*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, MA.

- Dessler G. (2013). Human Resource Management, 13th Edition. International University. ©2013 | Pearson
- Dessler G. (2015). Human Resource Management, 14th Edition. ©2015 Pearson
- Dessler, G., & Al Ariss, A. (2012). *Human resource management: Arab World Edition*. Edinburgh: Pearson Education Limited
- Dimitriadi, Z. (2000). Business Research Methodology. Athens: Interbooks.[in Greek]
- Dimitrios M. Mihail, Myra Mac Links, Sofoklis Sarvanidis, (2013). High performance work systems in corporate turnaround: a German case study. *Journal of Organizational Change Management, Vol. 26 Iss: 1 pp. 190 - 216*
- Drucker F. Peter (1999). Management Challenges for the 21st Century. New York: HarperCollins.
- Dunleavy, P. and Hood, C. (1994). From Old Public Administration to New Public Management. *Public Money and Management, 14, 9-16.*
- Dyer, J. H., H. Singh. 1998. The relational view: Cooperative strategies and sources of interorganizational competitive advantage. *Acad. Management* Rev. 23(4) 660–679.
- Dyer, L. & Reeves, T. (1995). Human resources strategies and firm performance: what do we know and where do we need to go? *International Journal of Human Resource Management 6(3), pp* 656-670.
- E. E. Lawler et al. (2009). What Makes HR a Strategic Partner? People & Strategy 32, no. 1
- Edward E. Lawler and John W. Boudreau 2012. *Creating an effective human capital strategy, SHRM* (Available at: https://www.shrm.org/hr-today/news/hr magazine/pages/0812boudreau.aspx) [assessed at Nov 19 2018]
- EFQM Leading Excellence, (2013). *EFQM Excellence Model* 2013. <u>https://www.efqm.org/index.php/efqm-model/</u>.[Accessed the 15th of September 2019].
- EFQM Leading Excellence, (2018). EFQM Management Document User Guide.
- EFQM, (2012). *EFQM Framework for Innovation Agencies*. PRO INNO Europe initiative (2009-2012) for Innovation Agencies. ©2012 EFQM
- EIPA & EUPAN (2013). *CAF Improving Public Organisations through Self-Assessment*, EUPAN & European CAF Resource Centre at EIPA, September 2012.
- EIPA, (2019). Our mission. Available at: https://www.eipa.eu/organisation. [accessed Aug 20 2019].
- Emiliani, M.L. (2005). Using Kaizen to improve graduate business school degree programs. *Quality* Assurance in Education, Vol. 13, No. 1, 37-52.
- Eurydice, (2018). *Key features of the Education System*. https://eacea.ec.europa.eu/national-policies/eurydice. [Accessed the 20th of September 2019].
- Eurydice, (2018). Organisation and Governance. available at https://eacea.ec.europa.eu/nationalpolicies/eurydice/content/organisation-and-governance-33_en. [Accessed the 20th of September 2019].
- Evans & Lindsay (2007). *Managing for Quality and Performance Excellence*. Cengage Learning, Jan 30, 2007
- Fagerberg, J., Mowery, D.C., Nelson, R.R., 2005. In: The Oxford Handbook of *Innovation*. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK
- Farnham, D., Hondeghen, A., Horton, S. (2005). Staff Participation and Public Management Reform. A study on the use, the support and the future of the Common Assessment Framework. (EIPA)

- Fernandez, S. and Moldogaziev, T. (2013). Employee Empowerment, Employee Attitudes, and Performance: Testing a Causal Model. *Public Administration Review*, Vol. 73, Iss. 3, pp. 490– 506
- Ferris, G. R., & Kacmar, K. M. (1992). Perceptions of organizational politics. Journal of Management, 18, 93–116.
- Ferris, G. R., Harrell-Cook, G., & Dulebohn, J. H. (1998). Organizational Politics: The nature of the relationship between politics perceptions and political behavior. In S. B. Bacharach & E. J. Lawler (Eds.), Research in the sociology of organizations, Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Foundation: BISS (Baltic Institute of Social Sciences) "O.D.A." LTD, (2015). The study on the future role and development of the public administration. RIGA, 2015
- Frank H.M. Verbeeten, (2008). Performance management practices in public sector organizations: Impact on performance. Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, Vol. 21 Issue: 3, pp.427-454, https:// doi.org/10.1108/09513570810863996
- Frederickson, H. G. (1997). The spirit of public administration. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Friedman, Barry. (2007). Globalization Implications for Human Resource Management Roles. Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal 19 (3), 157-171
- G. Hamel and C.K. Prahalad, (1994). Competing for the future. Harvard Business Review July-August 1994 Issue
- G. Johnson, K. Scholes, R. Whittington, (2007). *Exploring Corporate Strategy*. 8th ed. London: Prentice Hal
- G. S. Hansen and B. Wernerfelt (1989). Determinants of firm Performance: the relative importance of Economic and Organizational factors. *Strategic Management Journal, Vol. 10*
- Geert Bouckaert and John Halligan, (2008). *Managing performance: International comparison*. ISBN 978 0 415 42395 3, New York: Routledge
- Gerry Johnson, Kevan Scholes, Richard Whittington (2005). *Exploring Corporate Strategy*. 7th edition, Pearson Education Limited 2002, 2005 p. 13, 68, 105
- Giannopoulou, Gryszkiewicz & Barlatier, (2011). A conceptual model for the development of service innovation capabilities in Research and Technology Organisations. *International Journal of Knowledge Management Studies 4*(4) DOI: 10.1504/IJKMS.2011.048441
- Giauque, D., Anderfuhren-Biget, S., & Varone, F. (2013a). HRM practices, intrinsic motivators, and organizational performance in the public sector. *Public Personnel Management*, 42, 123-150. (13) (PDF) Attitudes Toward Organizational Change Among Public Middle Managers. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/268444003_Attitudes_Toward_Organizational_Change_Among_Public_Middle_Managers [accessed Jan 18 2020].
- Giauque, D., & Anderfuhren-Biget, S. (2010). Organisation PSM antecedents. Do HRM practices *matter? Testing the mediating role of job satisfaction and organizational commitment.* Paper prepared for the EGPA annual conference 2010, Toulouse September 8-10
- Giovanni Azzone, Tommaso Palermo, (2011). Adopting performance appraisal and reward systems: A qualitative analysis of public sector organisational change. *Journal of Organizational Change Management, Vol. 24 Iss: 1 pp. 90 - 111*
- Godard, J. (2004). A critical assessment of the high-performance paradigm. British Journal of Industrial Relations, Vol. 42 No. 2, pp. 349-78.
- Godard, J. and Delaney, J.T. (2000). Reflections on the high performance paradigm's implications for industrial relations as a field. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review, Vol. 53 No. 3, pp. 482-502.*

- Good Governance, (2019). https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Good_governance. Accessed on 25 January 2019
- Gould-Williams, J. (2003) The importance of HR practices and workplace trust in achieving superior performance: a study of public-sector organizations. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 14(1): 28-54.
- Gould-Williams, J. (2004) The effects of 'high commitment' hrm practices on employee attitude: the views of public sector workers. *Public Administration*, 82(1): 63-81.
- Gould-Williams, J.S. (1998). The Impact of HRM Practices on Organisational Commitment. In Neely, A.D. and Waggoner, D.B. (eds) Performance Measurement: Theory and Practice. Cambridge: Centre for Business Performance, Cambridge University.
- Gov. Gazette 1882_B_2018. Determination of the evaluation period for implementing the evaluative period of the year 2017. Definition of the form and content of the anonymous supervisors assessment questionnaire. [in Greek].
- Graaf, G. and Z. van der Wal (2008). "On Value Differences Experienced by Sector Switchers." Administration & Society 40(1): 79-103
- Gruening G., (2001). Origin and theoretical basis of New Public Management. International Public Management Journal 4 (2001) 1–25
- Guest, D. and Conway, N. (1999). Peering into the Black Hole: The Downside of the New Employment Relations in the UK. *British Journal of Industrial Relations*, 37(3): 367–89.
- Gustafsson, A., Nilsson, L., & Johnson, M. D. (2003). *The role of quality practices in service organizations*[Electronic version]. Retrieved [insert date], from Cornell University, School of Hospitality Administration site: http://scholarship.sha.cornell.edu/articles/700
- Guzzo, R.A. and Noonan, K.A. (1994). Human Resource Practices as Communications and the Psychological Contract. *Human Resource Management*, 33: 447–62.
- Hallowell R., L.A. Schlesinger, J. Zornitsky (2002). "Internal Service Quality, Customer and Job Satisfaction: Linkages and Implications for Management". Human Resource Planning, p. 27(EBSCO Publishing)
- Hanks, B. S. H. (2003). Linking a metal analysis of relationships between human resource practices. Journal of human resource management, (36), pp 14-17.
- Harley, B. (2002) Employee responses to High Performance Work Practices: an analysis of the AWIRS95 data. *The Journal of Industrial Relations*, 44(3): 418-434.
- Heinrich, C. (1999). Do government bureaucrats make effective use of performance management information? *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 9(3), 363-393.
- Heinrich, C. J. (2007). False or fitting recognition? The use of high performance bonuses in motivating organizational achievements. Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, 26(2), 281-304. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pam.20244
- Hernandez, B., Jimenez, J., Martin, M.J., (2008). Extending the technology acceptance model to include the IT decision-maker: a study of business management software. *Technovation* 28,112–121.
- Heskett, J., W. E. Sasser Jr., and L. Schlesinger, (1997). *The Service Profit Chain: How Leading Companies Link Profit and Growth to Loyalty, Satisfaction, and Value*. New York: Free Press.
- Hodgkinson, M. and Kelly, M. (2007). Quality management and enhancement processes in UK business schools: a review. *Quality Assurance in Education, Vol. 15, No. 1, 77-91.*
- Hood C. (1991). A Public Management for all seasons. Public Administration, Vol. 69, Iss. 1

- Hood Christopher (2007). Public Service Management by Numbers: Why Does it Vary? Where Has it Come From? What Are the Gaps and the Puzzles? *Public Money & Management, 27:2, 95-102*
- Hood, Christopher & Peters, B. Guy (2004). "The Middle Aging of New Public Management: Into the Age of Paradox?". *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 14, pp.267–282.
- Hopfenbeck, T. et al. (2013). Balancing trust and accountability? The assessment for learning programme in Norway: A Governing Complex Education Systems case study. OECD Education Working Papers, No. 97, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5k3txnpqlsnn-en
- Huselid, M.A. & Becker, B. (1995). High Performance Work Practices and the Performance of the Firm: The Mediating Effects of Capital Structure and Competitive Strategy. *paper presented* to the Academy of Management Conference, Vancouver, 6–9 August.
- Huselid, M.A. (2005), "The impact of HRM practices on turnover, productivity and corporate financial performance", in Salaman, G., Storey, J. and Billsberry, J. (Eds), Strategic Human Resource Management: Theory and Practice, 121-146, London: Sage Publications.
- Hyndman N., Eden R. (2001). *The co-ordination of mission, objectives and targets in UK executive agencies.* CIMA Publishing: London, March 2001, 90 pp.
- Iles, P., Mabey, C. and Robertson, I. (1990). HRM Practices and Employee Commitment: Possibilities, Pitfalls and Paradoxes. *British Journal of Management, 1: 147–57.*
- International Network for Natural Sciences (INNSPUB). <u>https://innspub.net/types-of-scientific-research/</u>. Accessed the 12th of January 2020, at 17:35.
- Jackson, N. (2002). "Principles to support the enhancement of teaching and student learning". Educational Developments, Vol. 3, No. 1, 1-6.
- Johnson et al. (2009). Measuring Organizational Performance: Towards Methodological Best Practice. Journal of Management 35(3) DOI: 10.1177/0149206308330560
- Jones, D.C., Kalmi, P. and Kauhanen, A. (2010). How does employee involvement stack up? The effects of HRM policies on performance in a retail firm. *Industrial Relations, Vol. 49 No. 1*, *pp. 1-21*.
- Julia Bosse J. et al (2017). An Innovative Public Sector in 2017 New Solutions to Complex Challenge. EPSA 2017
- Julian Gould-Williams (2003). The importance of HR practices and workplace trust in achieving superior performance: A study of public-sector organizations. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 14:1, 28-54
- KANEP/GSEE (2015). Basic Measures of Education: Elementary and Secondary Education, Part A. 2002-2013, European and International Framework. Centre for Educational Policy Development/General Confederation of Greek Workers, Athens, October, [in Greek], http://www.kanep-gsee.gr/sitefiles/files/2015_ekth.pdf.
- Kanter, D. L., & Mirvis, P. H. (1989). *The cynical Americans: Living and working in an age of discontent and disillusion*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Karageorgou, N. (2009). Training and staff development in public sector organizations (Doctoral dissertation). Available at: http://nemertes.lis.upatras.gr/jspui/bitstream/10889/2615/1/Karageorgou_Nafsika_Dip lomatiki_Ergasia_MBA.pdf [Accessed: 28-01-2017].
- Katsikas I. & Oikonomidou M., (2017). Evaluating the Teaching Performance of the University Institutions: the case study of the University of Macedonia. Paper presented at the 2nd International Conference on "Evaluation of Public Education" - Alexandroupoli, Greece,

October 6-7, 2017. Conference publications: Evaluation in Education, Scientific series: Intercultural Education and Training, ISBN: 978-618-83706-0-9

- Kaufman, B. (2010). A theory of the firm's demand for HRM practices. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management, Vol. 21 No. 5, pp. 615-36.*
- Kehinde, O. (2011). Impact of Job Satisfaction on Absenteeism. Humanities & Social Sciences, 30.
- Khan, S. (1997). The key to being a leader company: Empowerment. *Journal for Quality & Participation, 20, 44-50.*
- Khare, r. m., & Pandey, c. m. (2012). Impact of job satisfaction and organizational commitment on employee loyalty. *International Journal of Social Science & Interdisciplinary Research*, 14.
- Koberg CS, Boss RW, Senjem JC, Goodman EA. (1999). Antecedents and outcomes of empowerment. *Group Organ Manage* 24(1):71–92
- Koka, B., J. Prescott. 2002. Strategic alliances as social capital: A multidimensional view. *Strategic* Management J. 23 795–816.
- Kushner RJ, Poole PP. (1996). Exploring structure-effectiveness relationships in nonprofit arts organizations. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 6(2), pp171-80.
- Lapsley, I. (2008). The NPM agenda: back to the future. *Financial Accountability & Management, Vol. 24 No. 1, pp. 77-95.*
- Law 3230/2004 (Government Gazette 44 / 11.02.2004). Establishment of the Measurement by Objectives System, Measurement of Efficiency and Other provisions. [in Greek]
- Law 4440/2016, OGG 224_A' (2016). "Unified Mobility System in Public Administration and Local Authorities". <u>http://apografi.gov.gr/kinitikotita/esk_thesmiko.html</u>. Accessed on 25 December 2019
- Law. 4369/2016 (Government Gazette 33 / 02.27.2016). "National Register of Public Administration Executives, career structure creation (HR Development), evaluation systems, promotions and superiors choice (meritocracy transparency and efficiency of public administration) and other provisions". [in Greek]
- Law. 4440/2016 (Government Gazette 224 / 02.12.2016). "Unified Mobility System in Public Administration and Local Government, obligations of the persons appointed to the positions of Articles 6 and 8 of N. 4369/2016, and incompatible prevention of conflicts of interest and other provisions". [in Greek]
- Leana C., Pil F. (2006). Social Capital and Organizational Performance: Evidence from Urban Public Schools. *Organization Science* 17(3):353-366. http://dx.doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1060.0191
- Lewis, B. and Mitchell, V. (1990). "Defining and Measuring the Quality of Customer Service". *Marketing Intelligence & Planning.* Vol. 8 No. 6, pp. 11-17. https://doi.org/10.1108/EUM000000001086
- Liao, H., & Chuang, A. (2004). A multilevel investigation of factors influencing employee service performance and customer outcomes. *Academy of Management Journal*, 47(1): 41–58.
- Liao, H., Toya, K., Lepak, D. P., & Hong, Y. (2009). Do they see eye to eye? Management and employee perspectives of high-performance work systems and influence processes on service quality. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 94(2): 371–397.
- Liodaki N. and N. Liodaki (2016). Some Effects of the Economic Crisis on Shadow Education in Greece. paper presented at the International Conference in Contemporary Social Studies. http://icconss.soc.uoc.gr/en/papers/item/193-some-effects-of-the-economic-crisis-on-shadow-education-in-greece.html.
- Locke, E.A. and Latham, G.P. (1990). A Theory of Goal-setting and Task Performance. Engelwood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

- Lomas, L. (2004). Embedding quality: the challenges for higher education. Quality Assurance in Education, Vol. 12 No. 4, 157-165.
- M. Jae Moon, (2000). Organizational Commitment Revisited in New Public Management: Motivation, Organizational Culture, Sector, and Managerial Level. *Public Performance & Management Review*, Vol. 24, No. 2 (Dec., 2000), pp. 177-194. Stable URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/3381267. [Accessed: 04-07-2017 13:50 UTC]8b
- Macky, K. and Boxall, P. (2007). The relationship between high-performance work practices and employee attitudes: an investigation of additive and interaction effects. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management, Vol. 18 No. 4, pp. 537-67.*
- Mansor, N. N. A., Chakraborty, A. R., Yin, T. K., & Mahitapoglu, Z. (2012). Organizational Factors Influencing Performance Management System in Higher Educational Institution of South East Asia. Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences 40, pp 584-590.
- Matiaske, W. and Weller, I. (2003). '*Extra-Rollenverhalten*'. in A. Martin (ed.) Organizational Behaviour: Verhalten in Organisationen, pp. 95–114. Stuttgart: Kohlhammer.
- Matthew S. Kraatz, Edward J. Zajac, (2001). How Organizational Resources Affect Strategic Change and Performance in Turbulent Environments: Theory and Evidence. *Organization Science* 12(5):632-657.http://dx.doi.org/10.1287/orsc.12.5.632.100882a
- McKimm, J. (2003). "Assuring quality and standards in teaching", in Fry, H., Ketteridge, S.M. and Marshall, S. (Eds), A Handbook for Teaching and Learning in Higher Education, 2nd ed., London: Kogan Page.
- Mele, & Colurcio, (2006). The evolving path of TQM: Towards business excellence and stakeholder value. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management 23(5): 464-489*
- Menon S. T. (2001), "Employee Empowerment: An Integrative Psychological Approach". Applied psychology: an international review, Vol. 50, No.1, pp. 153-180.
- Meyer, J. P., & Allen, N. J. (1991). A three-component conceptualization of organizational commitment. Human Resource Management Review, 1(1): 61-89.
- Michael E. Mikakovkh (1991). Total Quality Management in the Public Sector. *National Productivity Review/Spring 1991 2TQM*
- Michalopoulos N., (2007). Public Administration at the era of Results. Papazisis, Athens.[in Greek]
- Michalopoulos, N., (2003). From public bureaucracy to public management. Athens: Papazisis, [in Greek].
- Mick Marchington & Irena Grugulis (2000). Best practice' human resource management: perfect opportunity or dangerous illusion?. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 11:6, 1104-1124. DOI: 10.1080/09585190050177184
- Milakovich, M. E. (1991). Total quality management in the public sector. *National Productivity Review, Vol. 10 (2): 195–213.*
- Ministry of Education and Religious Affairs (2018). OGG 102_A_2018: *Reorganization of primary* and secondary education structures. <u>https://www.minedu.gov.gr/publications/docs2018/EPAL_N_4547_FEK_102A_12-06-</u> 2018.pdf. [Accessed the 12th of June 2018].[in Greek]
- Ministry of Education and Religious Affairs (2018). OGG 32_A_2018: Organization and structure of the Ministry of Education. <u>https://www.minedu.gov.gr/publications/docs2018/FEK_organismos_ypoyrgeioy_paideias20</u> <u>18.pdf</u>. [Accessed the 23rd of February 2018]. [in Greek]
- Ministry of Interior Affairs, Department of Administrative Reform and E-Government, (2015). *CAF Improving Public Organisations through Self-Assessment*. National Printing Office, Athens: 2015[in Greek]

- Ministry of Interior Affairs, Department of Administrative Reform and E-Government, (2017). *Guide* of the Common Assessment Framework Implementation. National Printing Office, Athens: 2017[in Greek]
- Mishra, J., & Morrissey, M. A. (1990). Trust in employee/employer relationships: A survey of west Michigan managers. *Public Personnel Management, 19, 443-486*.
- Molm, L. D. (1997). Coercive power in social exchange. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press.
- Moon, M J., & deLeon, P. (2000). *Municipal reinvention: Managerial values and diffusion among municipalities*. Paper presented at the 2000 American Political Science Conference, Washington, DC.
- Moynihan, D. P., & Pandey, S. K. (2007). The role of organizations in fostering public service motivation. *Public Administrative Review*, 67(1): 40-53.
- Mullins, L.J. (2007), Management and Organisational Behaviour, 8th ed., Pitman Publishing, London.
- Naranjo-Gil David, (2009). The influence of environmental and organizational factors on innovation adoptions: Consequences for performance in public sector organizations, *Technovation 29*, 810–818
- Newberry, S. and Pallot, J. (2004). Freedom or coercion? NPM incentives in New Zealand central government departments. *Management Accounting Research, Vol. 15 No. 3, pp. 247-66.*
- Nick Thijs, (2013). *How the CAF Model Strengthens Staff Participation*. A study on the use, the support and the future of the Common Assessment Framework. (EIPA).
- Nura, A. A., & Osman, N. H. (2013). Gauging the Effect of Performance Management and Technology Based Human Resource Management on Employee Retention: The Perspective of Academics in Higher Educational Institutions in Sokoto State Nigeria. Asian Social Science, 9(15), 295.
- Nyhan R., (2000). Changing the paradigm:Trust and Its Role in Public Sector Organizations. *American review of public administration, Vol. 30 No. 1,* March 2000 87-109. © 2000 Sage Publications, Inc.
- OECD (2011). Education Policy Advice for Greece, Strong Performers and Successful Reformers in Education. OECD Publishing, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264119581-en
- OECD (2011). Greece: Review of the Central Administration, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264102880
- OECD (2012). Equity and Quality in Education: Supporting Disadvantaged Students and Schools. OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264130852-en.
- OECD (2013). Synergies for Better Learning: An International Perspective on Evaluation and Assessment. OECD Publishing
- OECD (2015). Education Policy Outlook 2015: Making Reforms Happen. OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264225442-en.
- OECD (2016). Performance Budgeting Survey. OECD, Paris.
- OECD (2017). Education Policy in Greece-A Preliminary Assessment. © OECD 2017
- OECD (2017). *Government at a Glance 2017* Chapter 5. Budgeting Practices and Procedures Greek Public Administration. © OECD 2017
- OECD (2017). Government at a Glance 2017 Country Fact Sheet, Greece. © OECD 2017
- Oikonomidou M. & Konstantinidis I. (2019). The impact of HRM practices to employees' satisfaction and organizational performance in public administration: the case of the administration

services of education in the region of north Greece. *Journal of Public Policy and Good Governance, Public Policies.bg, Volume 10/Number 3/September 2019.*

- Oikonomidou M. & Konstantinidis I. (2020). The effect of administrative actions on the satisfaction of Primary and Secondary public school principals. *Journal of Contemporary Education Theory & Research. Published online: 30 May 2020, JCETR, 4(1), pp. 1-2. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.3773894.*
- Ojasalo, K. (2009). Designing Industrial Services—What Is the Role of the Customer. *The Business Review, Cambridge, 14, 125-131.*
- Osmani, F., & Maliqi, G. (2012). Performance Management, Its Assessment and Importance. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 41, pp 434-441.
- Ottewill, R. and Macfarlane, B. (2002). "National report for the business education support team: explicit and implicit judgment of quality - an analysis of the QAA Business and Management Subject Review Reports (2000-2001)", Report for LTSN Business Education Support Team, Oxford: Oxford Brookes University.
- P. Senge, (1990). *The Fifth Discipline: The Art and Practice of the Learning Organization*. New York: Currency Doubleday.
- Palo S. and Padhi N. (2005), How HR professionals drive TQM: a case study in an Indian organization, *The TQM Magazine Vol. 17 No. 5*
- Papadakis, Kaloghirou, Iatrelli (1999), Strategic Decision Making: from Crisis to Opportunity, Volume10, Issue1, March 1999
- Papalazarou I., Tsoulfas G., (2018). Principal Management Concepts in Greek Public Sector: Part I The Common Assessment Framework. HOLISTICA Vol 9, Issue 1, 2018, pp. 49-64. DOI:10.1515/hjbpa-2018-0004
- Paraskevopoulos I. (1993). *Methodology of Scientific Research*. Athens: Private Edition, 1993.[in Greek]
- Parhizgari A. and Gilbert G., (2004). Measures of Organizational Effectiveness : Private and Public Sector Performance. Omega; The International Journal of Management Science 32, pp 221– 229
- Parish et al., (2008). Want to, Need to, Ought to: Employee Commitment to Organizational Change. Journal of Organizational Change Management 21(1):32-52. DOI: 10.1108/09534810810847020
- Patrik Hall (2013). NPM in Sweden: The Risky Balance between Bureaucracy and Politics 20a
- Paul R. Niven John Wiley & Sons (US) 2008. Balanced Scorecard: Step-By-Step for Government and Nonprofit Agencies, Second Edition
- Perry, J. & Rainey, H. (1988). The Public-Private Distinction in Organization Theory: A Critique and Research Strategy. *The Academy of Management Review, Vol.13*. DO 10.2307/258571
- Perry, J. L. (1997). Antecedents of public service motivation. Journal of Public Administration. Research and Theory, 7(2): 181-197.
- Perry, J.L., Mesch, D. and Paarlberg, L. (2006). Motivating Employees in a New Governance Era: The Performance Paradigm Revisited. *Public Administration Review* 66(4): 505–14.
- Perry, James L. and Lois R. Wise. (1990). The Motivational Bases of Public Service. *Public Administration Review 50: 367-373*.
- Petrakopoulou, (2014). The management and satisfaction of public sector personnel. Survey on the Satisfaction of IKA Employees During the Recession (Master's thesis, Piraeus University). Available at: http://dione.lib.unipi.gr/xmlui/handle/unipi/7272 [accessed: 17-01-2017][in Greek]

- Petrescu, I.A., & Simmons, R. (2008). Human resource management practices and workers' job satisfaction. *International Journal of Manpower*, 29(7), 651-667.
- Petter et al., (2002). Dimensions and Patterns in Employee Empowerment: Assessing What Matters to Street-Level Bureaucrats. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory 12(3):377-400*
- Pfeffer J., (1994). *Competitive advantage through people: Unleashing the power of the work force.* Boston: Harvard Business School Press. 288 pp
- Pfeffer, J. (1998). *The Human Equation: Building Profit by Putting People First*. Harvard Business School Press, Boston, MA.
- PLAN DO CHECK ACT cycle (2019-Wikipedia) https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/PDCA#Plan [Accessed on 28th of October 2019]
- Pollitt & Bouckaert, (2000). *Public Management Reform : A Comparative Analysis*. PUBLISHER: Oxford University Press. p. 87
- Pollitt, C. (1990). Performance indicators, root and branch. In M. Cave, M. Kogan, & R. Smith (Eds.), Output and performance measurement in government: The state of the art (pp. 167– 178). London: Jessica Kingsley.
- Pollitt, Christopher, and Geert Bouckaert. (2000). *Public Management Reform*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Pomeroy A., (2006). The Ethics Squeeze. HR Magazine 51, no. 3, pp. 48 55
- Poole, M., Mansfield, R. and Williams, J.G. (2006). Public and private sector managers over 20 years: a test of the convergence thesis. *Public Administration, Vol. 84 No. 4, pp. 1051-76.*
- Powell, T.C. (1995). "Total quality management as competitive advantage: a review and empirical study". *Strategic Management Journal, Vol. 16, No. 1, 15-37.*
- Power, M. (2000). The audit society-Second thoughts. International Journal of Auditing, 4,111-119.
- Purcell, J., & Hutchinson, S. (2007). Front-line managers as agents in the HRM-performance causal chain: theory, analysis and evidence. *Human Resource management journal*, 17(1), 3-20.
- Purcell, J., Kinnie, N., Swart, J., Rayton, B. and Hutchinson, S. (2009). *People Management and Performance*. Routledge, Abingdon.
- QAA (The Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education) (2002a). Subject Overview Report: Business and Managemen., Gloucester: Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education.
- Qaisi A., (2015). *Comparison Study of TQM and NPM*. Seminar In Public Administration, taught by Professor Patrick Scott. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/281287628 [accessed Nov 24 2018].
- R. L. Hughes & K. Colarelli (2005). Becoming a strategic leader: Your role in your organization's enduring success. Hoboken NJ: John Willey & Sons
- R. Whittington, A. Pettigrew, S. Peck, E. Fenton and M. Conyon, (1999). Change and complementarities in the new competitive landscape. *Organization Science*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 583–600
- Rainey, H., & Steinbauer, P. (1999). Galloping elephants: Developing elements of a theory of effective government organizations. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 9, 1-32.
- Rempel, J. K., Holmes, J. G., & Zanna, M. (1985). Trust in close relationships. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 49, 95-112.
- Richardson, R. and Thompson, M. (1999). *The Impact of People Management Practices on Business Performance: A Literature Review.* London: Institute of Personnel and Development.

- Ritz A. (2009). Public service motivation in Switzerland. International Review of Administrative Sciences 75(1)3b
- Rob van der Kruijs, (2011). Project theme: High Performance Work Systems in the Public Sector. Project by Tilburg University
- Robert S. Kaplan & David P. Norton (2005). *The Balanced Scorecard: Measures That Drive Performance.* Harvard Business Review (July-August 2005)
- Robert S. Kaplan and David P. Norton (1996). *The Balanced Scorecard*. Boston: Harvard Business School Press.
- Rosenbloom D., Piotrowski S., (2007). Rosenbloom and Piotrowski/ Reflections on New Public Management-Style Reforms. *Chinese Public Administration Review · Volume 4 · Numbers 1/2*
- Rousseau, (1989). Psychological and Implied Contracts in Organisations. <u>Employee Responsibilities</u> <u>and Rights Journal</u> 2(2):121-139
- Saiti A., (2012). Leadership and quality management. *Quality Assurance in Education, Vol. 20 Iss 2* pp. 110 138
- Sallis, E. (2002). Total Quality Management in Education. 3rd ed., London: Routledge
- Sandra van Thiel & Frans L. Leeuw (2002). The Performance Paradox in the Public Sector. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 25:3, 267-281, DOI: 10.1080/15309576.2002.11643661
- Sashkin, M. (1984). Participative management is an ethical imperative. *Organizational Dynamics*, *12*, 5-22.
- SHRM, (2012). *Metrics for the SHRM*® 2011 2012. *Customized Human Capital Benchmarking Report*. Reprinted with permission from the Society for HRM. All rights reserved.
- Siddique. C. M. (2004). job analysis: A strategic human resource management practice. *International journal of Human Resource Management*. 15(1).219-244.
- Singh, P. (2008). Job analysis for a changing workplace. *Human Resource Management Review*, 18(2), 87-99.
- Sparrow, P. (1998). New Organisational Forms, Processes, Jobs and Psychological Contracts. In Sparrow, P. and Marchington, M. (eds) Human Resource Management: The New Agenda. London: Prentice Hall.
- Staes, P., Thijs, N., Stoffels, A., Geldof, S. (2011). Five Years of CAF 2006: From Adolescence to Maturity – What next? A study on the use, the support and the future of the Common Assessment Framework. (EIPA)
- Steijn B., (2004). Human resource management and job satisfaction in the Dutch public sector. *Review of public personnel administration 24 (4), 291-303*
- Steijn, B., & Leisink, P. (2006). Organizational commitment among Dutch public sector employees. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 72(2), 187–201.
- Stevens & Campion, (1994). The Knowledge, Skill, and Ability Requirements for Teamwork: Implications for HRM. Journal of Management. 1994, Vol. 20, No. 2, 503-530.
- Subramanian & Nilakanta (1996), Organizational Innovativeness: Exploring the Relationship Between Organizational Determinants of Innovation, Types of Innovations, and Measures of Organizational Performance, *Omega, Int. J. Afgmt Sci. Vol. 24, No. 6, pp. 631-647*
- Swiss, James, (1992). Adapting Total Quality Management (TQM) to Government. Public Administration Review, Vol. 52, No. 4, pp. 356-362

- Takeuchi, R., Chen, G., & Lepak, D.P. (2009). Through the looking glass of a social system: Cross level effects of high performance work systems on employees' attitudes. *Personnel Psychology*, 62: 1-29.
- Taylor et al. (2008). Leadership and strategic management: keys to institutional priorities and planning. *New Public Management and Academic Practices, Volume 43, Issue 3*
- Taylor, W.A. & Wright, Gillian. (2003). The impact of senior managers' commitment on the success of TQM programmes. *International Journal of Manpower.* 24. 535-550. 10.1108/01437720310491071.
- Tharp, M.B. (2009). *Four Organizational Culture Types.* http://faculty.mu.edu.sa/public/uploads/1360757023.3588organizational%20cult98.pdf. [Accessed the 11th of January 2020].
- Thomas, K. (2000). *Intrinsic motivation at work: Building energy and commitment*. San Fransisco: Berett-Koehler publishers Inc.
- Tsiotras G., 2008. *Quality Control and Quality Assurance Standards*. EAP. ISBN 960-538-374-8. [in Greek]
- Tuntas, G. (2001). Health systems in the 21st century. Medicine, 79, 3, 215 217. [in Greek]
- Ugheoke S., et al., (2015). Implementation of High Performance Work System in Public Organizations: Implication to Organizational Performance. *Asian Social Science; Vol. 11, No.* 28. ISSN 1911-2017 E-ISSN 1911-2025
- Ulrich, D. et al (2009). *HR transformation: building human resources from the outside in 1st edition*. McGraw-Hill Education; 1 edition (July 13, 2009)
- UNESCAP-United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific, (2009). *What is New Governance*? <u>https://www.unescap.org/resources/what-good-governance</u>. Accessed on 4 April 2020
- Van Thiel, S. (2001). *Quangos: Trends, causes and consequences*. Aldershot, UK: Ashgate Publishing.
- Vandenabeele, W. (2007). Toward a Public Administration Theory of Public Service Motivation: An Institutional Approach'. *Public Management Review* 9(4): 545–56.
- Vigoda, E. (2000). Organizational Politics, Job Attitudes, and Work Outcomes: Exploration and Implications for the Public Sector. *Journal of Vocational Behavior 57, 326–347*.
- Vlachaki, Z. (2015). Case Study of Human Resource Planning: Municipality of Elefsina (Master's thesis, University of Piraeus). Available at http://dione.lib.unipi.gr/xmlui/bitstream/handle/unipi/8667/Vlachaki_Zacharenia.pdf? sequence = 1 [Accessed date: 02-01-17]
- Wade, J. (2000). "Excellence! The journey starts here". Quality World, Vol. 26, No. 5, pp. 20-2.
- Walker, R. M., & Boyne, G. A. (2006). Public management reform and organizational performance: An empirical assessment of the U.K. labor government's public service improvement strategy. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 25(2), 371-393. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pam.20177
- Whitener E., (2001). Do "high commitment" human resource practices affect employee commitment?: A cross-level analysis using hierarchical linear modeling. *Journal of Management, Volume: 27 issue: 5, page(s): 515-535*
- Wilson, P. (1999). A theory of power and politics and their effects on organizational commitment of senior executive service members. *Administration and Society*, *31*, *120-1*

- Witt, L. A., &Hellman, C. (1992). Effects of subordinate feedback to the supervisor and participation in decision-making in the prediction of organizational support. Springfield, IL: NTIS. (NTIS No. DOT/AM 92/13)
- Wood A., Froh J., Geraghty A. (2006), Gratitude and well-being: A review and theoretical integration. *Clinical Psychology Review xxx (2010)*
- Wood, (1999). HRM and performance. International Journal Management Reviews, Vol.1, Issue 4. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2370.00020
- Wright, B. E. & Davis, B. S. (2003). Job Satisfaction in the Public Sector: The Role of the Work Environment. *The American Review of Public Administration*, 33, 70.
- Wright, B.E. (2004). The Role of Work Context in Work Motivation: A Public Sector Application of Goal and Social Cognitive Theories. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 14(1): 59–78.
- Wright, B.E. (2007). Public Service and Motivation: Does Mission Matter? *Public Administration Review* 67(1): 54–64
- Wright, P., & McMahan, G. (1992). Theoretical perspectives for strategic human resource management. *Journal of Management*, 18(2), 295-320.
- Wright, P.M., McMahan, G.C. and McWilliams, A. (1994). Human Resources and Sustained Competitive Advantage: A Resource-based Perspective. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 5(2): 301–26.
- Xirotiri Koufidou, S. (2001). Human Resources Management. Athens: Anikoula. [in Greek]
- Xirotyri-Koufidou, (2010). *Human Resource Management*. Anikoula, 2010. ISBN 978-960-516-045-6. [in Greek]
- Yujie Cai, Jian Han, Siqing Peng, Luping Sun, (2016). Volunteer High Performance Work Systems and Service Performance: An Empirical Study of Beijing Olympic Volunteers. Front. Bus. Res. China 2016, 10(4): 605–635. DOI 10.3868/s070-005-016-0022-31
- Yukl G.A. (1989). "Managerial leadership: A review of theory and research". Journal of Management, Vol. 15, pp. 251-289.
- Zavlanos, M. (2003). Total quality in education. Athens: Stamouli Publications
- Zimmerman (1991). The evolution-creation controversy: Opinions of Ohio school board presidents. Science of Education, Volume 75, Issue 2